
  
BELLBROOK CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 28, 2019 
 
6:00 pm Work Session - Budgeting for Administration and Service 
 
7:00 pm-Regular Meeting 
 
1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  

3. Roll Call 

4. Formal Approval of the Work Session and Regular Meeting Minutes of October 14, 2019 

5. Mayor’s Announcements/Special Guests 

Beautification Awards – Presented by Chairs Robert and Michele Johnson 

Oath of Office – Tim Tuttle Planning Board 

6. Public Hearing of Ordinances  
• Ordinance No. 2019-19 An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance 2019-14 and Adopting new 

Ordinance 2019-19 to Adjust the City of Bellbrook Appropriations for 2019 (Edwards) 
7. Introduction of Ordinances  

8. Resolutions 

9. City Manager Report 

10. Committee Reports 

A. Service 
B. Safety 
C. Finance/Audit 
D. Community Affairs  

11. Old Business 

Greene County Master Trail Plan Support Request 

12. New Business 

Request to Remove the Walking Path from the Approved Plans for Section 3, Phase 1 of 
Highview Terrace 

13. Open Discussion 

14. Adjourn 

City of Bellbrook 
15 E. Franklin Street 
Bellbrook, Ohio  45305 

T (937) 848-4666 
F (937) 848-5190 

www.cityofbellbrook.org 





RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Meeting 

October 14, 2019 
 

   1  

PRESENT: Nick Edwards 
Forrest Greenwood 

  Elaine Middlestetter 
  Dona Seger-Lawson 
  David Van Veldhuizen, PhD 
  Mayor Mike Schweller 
   
This is a summary of the City Council meeting held on Monday, October 14, 2019.  Mayor Schweller 
called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL 

Mr. Edwards, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Dr. David Van 
Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes. 

Mr. Edwards made a motion to excuse Mr. McGill from the Council meeting.  This was seconded by 
Mrs. Seger-Lawson.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mr. Edwards, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. 
Middlestetter, yes; Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Dr. David Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The 
motion passed 6-0. 

 
FORMAL APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

After polling members of City Council, as there were no corrections or additions to the regular meeting 
minutes of September 23, 2019 Mayor Schweller declared the minutes approved as written. 

 
MAYOR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS/SPECIAL GUEST - none 

 
PUBLIC HEARING OF ORDINANCES  
 

Mr. Greenwood read Ordinance No. 2019-15 An Ordinance Amending Section 1450.15 – 
“Demolition” of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Bellbrook.  He explained that the new language 
that Council had suggested at the previous meeting was added to this ordinance.  

Mrs. Dodd pointed out that the permit now included the steps to be taken before demolition can 
commence. 

Mr. Greenwood made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2019-15 An Ordinance Amending Section 
1450.15 – “Demolition” of the Codified Ordinances of the City of Bellbrook.  Mrs. Middlestetter 
seconded the motion.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Mr. 
Edwards, yes; Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The motion 
passed 7-0. 

 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Meeting 

October 14, 2019 
 

   2  

Mrs. Middlestetter read Ordinance No. 2019-16 An Ordinance Adding Section 412.07 – “Special 
Events” to the Codified Ordinances of the City of Bellbrook.   

The City Manager explained that the ordinance outlines what a special event is and the requirements.  
The permit ensures that all Department heads are aware of the event. 

Mr. Greenwood added that the city invites citizens to host special events. 

Mrs. Middlestetter made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2019-16 An Ordinance Adding Section 
412.07 – “Special Events” to the Codified Ordinances of the City of Bellbrook.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Greenwood.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; 
Mr. Edwards, yes; Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The motion 
passed 6-0. 

 
Dr. Van Veldhuizen read Ordinance No. 2019-17 An Ordinance Adding Chapter 1011 – “Sidewalks” to 
the Codified Ordinances of the City of Bellbrook.  Dr. Van Veldhuizen condensed the content of the 
ordinance to explain that the purpose is to define the standards for sidewalks since the City did not 
have any previously. 

Mr. Greenwood added that these standards will be helpful when hiring a contractor to make repairs. 

Mrs. Middlestetter commented that it is difficult to get a contractor to take on such a small job and 
suggested that maybe a group of property owners could join together to hire out the work.  Maybe the 
City could look into this idea.  Mrs. Middlestetter has heard of other areas that gather interested 
owners together and then add the cost to the person’s taxes. 

Mayor Schweller asked if the City still did annual sidewalk assessments.  Mrs. Dodd said they hadn’t 
done them in 2019.   

Mr. Edwards asked if this was work that the City’s Service Department could do and then bill the 
property owner.    Mrs. Dodd does not think that is something the Service Department has the time or 
staff to cover but she would talk with Supervisor Ryan Pasley about it. 

Mrs. Seger-Lawson added that maybe it could be added to the City’s web page to assist property 
owners. 

Dr. Van Veldhuizen made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2019-17 An Ordinance Adding Chapter 
1011 – “Sidewalks” to the Codified Ordinances of the City of Bellbrook.  Mrs. Seger-Lawson seconded 
the motion.  The Clerk called the roll.  Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Mr. Edwards, 
yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The motion passed 6-0. 

 
Mrs. Seger-Lawson read Ordinance No. 2019-18 An Ordinance Amending Section 1450.31 (c) 
“Sidewalks and Driveways” of the Property Maintenance Code.  This ordinance adds the sidewalk 
requirements from the previous ordinance to the Property Maintenance Code.  

Mrs. Seger-Lawson made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2019-18 An Ordinance Amending Section 
1450.31 (c) “Sidewalks and Driveways” of the Property Maintenance Code.  The motion was 
seconded by Mrs. Middlestetter.   The Clerk called the roll.  Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Mrs. 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Meeting 

October 14, 2019 
 

   3  

Middlestetter, yes; Mr. Edwards, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor Schweller, 
yes.  The motion passed 6-0. 
 
INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES  
 

Mr. Edwards read Ordinance 2019-19 An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance 2019-14 and Adopting new 
Ordinance 2019-19 to Adjust the City of Bellbrook Appropriations for 2019.  He explained that this is 
just revising the starting and ending amounts that were wrong in Ordinance 2019-14. 

City Manager Melissa Dodd explained that this was due to a clerical error.  The revisions themselves 
stayed the same.  

Mr. Edwards made a motion to Introduce Ordinance 2019-19 An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance 
2019-14 and Adopting new Ordinance 2019-19 to Adjust the City of Bellbrook Appropriations for 
2019.  Mrs. Seger-Lawson seconded the motion.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mr. Edwards, yes; Mrs. 
Seger-Lawson, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mayor 
Schweller, yes.  The motion passed 6-0. 

 
RESOLUTIONS  

Mrs. Middlestetter read Resolution 2019-DD Combination of Lots 51 and 52 of Section 3 Phase 1 of 
Highview Terrace. 

Mrs. Dodd explained that this lot combination was approved by the Planning Board on October 10.  
Due to the steep slope of these lots, the combining of them gives a better build site for the house. 

Mrs. Seger-Lawson asked if this request affects the walking path on the adjacent lot that is under 
question.  Mrs. Dodd answered that this does not affect the walking path at all. 

Dr. Van Veldhuizen stated that the Planning Board had looked at this when he was on it.  The 
combination of lots can have an effect on expected property taxes.   

Mrs. Middlestetter made a motion to adopt Resolution 2019-DD Combination of Lots 51 and 52 of 
Section 3 Phase 1 of Highview Terrace.  This was seconded by Dr. Van Veldhuizen.  The Clerk called the 
roll.  Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Dr. Van Veldhuizen, yes; Mr. Edwards, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. 
Seger-Lawson, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  The motion passed 6-0.  

 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

City Manager Melissa Dodd reported that on the 9th staff and a few council members took a tour of 
available spaces around downtown and talked with development officials from Greene County and the 
Dayton Development Coalition. They toured and talked about a few larger properties downtown and 
their potential.  

Mrs. Dodd announced that she was coordinating an event called Bellbrook Open for Business.  This will 
be an open house type event for entrepreneurs interested in possibly locating in Bellbrook to view 
some available spaces and speak with property owners. There would be contact information and specs 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Meeting 

October 14, 2019 
 

   4  

available. This is schedules for two different sessions on Saturday, November 2 from 9-11 am and 
Wednesday, November 13 from 6-8 pm.  This is a creative idea that doesn’t cost the city money. 

Mrs. Seger-Lawson asked if the lack of income tax would be highlighted as a benefit to business.  Mrs. 
Dodd answered that this is included in the brochure that was being created. 

Mayor Schweller asked if the Coalition or Greene County would be involved as a resource.  Mrs. Dodd 
said they have a database that could list our vacant properties that could possibly link them to 
potential business owners.  

The City Manager asked Council about hosting a community open house in January to present to the 
public a year in review of accomplishments and projects and get input for the coming year. This would 
be similar to the Visioning meeting that we had as part of the Comprehensive Plan where we have 
different stations and topics. We would have one for each major department and staff on hand to talk 
with the public. We have tentatively set this for the evening of January 29th.  

On Tuesday the 8th the City Manager received a call from Judge O’Diam of the Greene County Probate 
Court commending Chief Doherty. Chief Doherty spoke at a hearing and Judge O’Diam commended 
him for going above and beyond to assist an elderly woman in the community. Judge O’Diam stated 
that Chief left a positive impression far beyond the City that day and he wanted me to pass this along 
to Council.  

Mrs. Dodd updated Council on the Police Department Hiring for two positions. This week the Police 
Department will be interviewing for the Administrative Assistant and Police Officer positions. These are 
both full-time. We had 45 applicants for the Administrative Assistant position and 6 for the Police 
Officer position. We are hopeful to get great candidates from the applications received.  

Small Business Revolution is a television series that works with small towns to revitalize them by 
assisting their small businesses. Nominations for their fifth season are open until October 22. Mrs. 
Dodd encouraged everyone to nominate Bellbrook. The link is on our Facebook page and has also been 
emailed to Council and a number of community members to nominate. 

Mr. Greenwood wanted to add that the process to renovate a business property can be expensive and 
take time.  He asked if there was a way for the City to waive property taxes for a period as an incentive 
to renovate some of the older properties in the City. 

Mayor Schweller added that an owner can get a reassessment done by Greene County.  He also 
suggested working with Greene County Economic Development. 

Mrs. Seger-Lawson asked for an update on the group that formed from the revitalization efforts.  Mrs. 
Dodd responded that the group being led by Tony Cali has a name which is Bellbrook By Design.  They 
have seven board members and meet every Thursday.  It is an all volunteer organization.  He will be 
making quarterly updates. 

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Service:  Mrs. Seger-Lawson reminded residents not to put their leaves into the street.  The City 
does not have leaf pick-up.  Everyone is welcome to mulch the leaves or bag them and throw 
them away with garbage pickup. 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Meeting 

October 14, 2019 
 

   5  

 
Safety:   Mr. Greenwood reported that the Fire Department held an Open House on October 8.  
It was well attended.  Lieutenant Nartker donated a car that was used in a demonstration.  They 
performed a stove fire drill.  The bedroom remodel inside the Fire house is complete.  It 
included noise cancellation system, positive air pressure system, CO2 detection and new 
lighting.  The project came in under budget.   
 
Finance/Audit:   none 
 
Community Affairs:    Mrs. Middlestetter reminded everyone that Halloween in the Park is 
coming up on October 26 which is a very fun event. 
She announced that the Committee recommends Mr. Timothy Tuttle to fill the vacancy on the 
Planning Board. 
 

Mrs. Middlestetter made a motion to appoint Timothy Tuttle to the Planning Board.  This was 
seconded by Dr. Van Veldhuizen.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mrs. Middlestetter, yes; Dr. Van 
Veldhuizen, yes; Mr. Edwards, yes; Mr. Greenwood, yes; Mrs. Seger-Lawson, yes; Mayor Schweller, yes.  
The motion carried 6-0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS - none 
 
NEW BUSINESS  

Greene County Master Trail Plan Support Request 

Mrs. Dodd explained that this is the follow up from the meeting she attended a couple of months ago.  
Greene County Parks and Trails and Greene County Regional Planning are partnering to create a master 
plan for trails for the county. Bellbrook’s main connection point in terms of Greene County is Spring 
Valley.  They are asking each municipality to support the plan by letting them know if we would 
contribute $1,250 by to go toward the cost of creating the plan. If Council is in favor, this will be 
included in the 2020 budget.   

Mr. Edwards asked how many other municipalities and the county are contributing.  And Mrs. Seger-
Lawson asked if Sugarcreek Township is included.  Mrs. Dodd answered that she did not know yet, but 
would find out before the next meeting. 

Mr. Edwards also asked about the long-term financial commitment and who actually pays for the trail 
to be built.  According to Mrs. Dodd this part of the project is just creating the plan.   

Dr. Van Veldhuizen said he thought the scope and timeline seems reasonable. 

 

OPEN DISCUSSION 

Mrs. Seger-Lawson reminds the public that Beggar’s Night is always on Halloween, October 31 from 6 
to 8 PM rain or shine. 

Mayor Schweller commended Chief Doherty on his remarkable work.  He also congratulated the Fire 
Department on their Open House. 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Bellbrook City Council Meeting 

October 14, 2019 
 

   6  

 
ADJOURN 

Being no further business to come before the Bellbrook City Council, Mayor Schweller declared the 
regular meeting adjourned at 8:02PM. 

 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Michael W. Schweller, Mayor 
 
____________________________________ 
 Pamela Timmons, Clerk of Council  



2019 Beautification Award Winners 

 

Business 

6 W Franklin St. - Bella Realty Group 
 
Area A 

4269 Clearview Court - Michael & Joni Dingledine 
 
2223 S Lakeman - Robin & William Logsdon 
 
Area B 

4035 Eckworth - Alex & Diana Fabrick 
 
4098 Maxwell - Dale & Bronne Wilson 
 
Area C 

4216 Beryl Drive - James & Patricia Brady 
 
1665 Cedar Court - Dale & Susan Steele 
 
Area D 

3588 Big Tree Road - Hannah & Matthew Couch and Doug & Annie Smith 
 
143 Upper Hillside - Roger & Sharon Dohner 
 
Area E 

1905 Little Sugarcreek - Thomas and Vicki Craycraft 
 
1828 Von Hovel Court - Vernon & Kristen Oakley 
 





RECORD OF ORDINANCES 
 

Ordinance No. 2019-19 October 28, 2019 
 

1 

City of Bellbrook 
Ordinance No. 2019-19 

An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance 2019-14 and Adopting new Ordinance 2019-19 to 
Adjust the City of Bellbrook Appropriations for 2019.  

WHEREAS, the City of Bellbrook adopted Ordinance 2019-14 to Adjust the City of Bellbrook 
Appropriations for 2019; and 

WHEREAS, there were clerical errors in the beginning and amended appropriation lines; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Bellbrook wishes to repeal Ordinance 2019-14 and adopt Ordinance 2019-
19 and correct clerical errors.  

Now, Therefore, the City of Bellbrook Hereby Ordains: 

Section 1. Council hereby repeals Ordinance 2019-14 to correct clerical errors and hereby adopts 
new Ordinance 2019-19. 

Section 2.  That the 2019 appropriation levels in several of the funds listed below be amended as 
follows: 

  Personnel  Other   Amended 
 2019 Services Expenses Total  2019 
Fund Appropriations Revisions Revisions Revisions Appropriations 
      
General Fund:      
  -Legislative  $          51,170   $         12,000   $          1,230   $          13,230   $           64,400  
  -Administrative  $        684,355   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $         684,355  
  -Library  $            2,000   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $             2,000  
  -Museum  $          19,780   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $           19,780  
  -Community Env.  $          11,022   $         63,475   $                -     $          63,475   $           74,497  
Total General Fund  $        768,327   $         75,475   $           1,230   $          76,705   $         845,032  
  $                    -      
Police Fund  $     1,764,085   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $      1,764,085  
Police Pension Fund  $          48,340   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $           48,340  
Fire Fund  $     1,277,084   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $      1,277,084  
Street Fund  $        322,775   $                -     $        65,480   $          65,480   $         388,255  
State Highway Fund  $          23,200   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $           23,200  
Motor Vehicle Fund  $          32,100    $                -     $                  -     $           32,100  
Waste Fund  $        465,968   $           6,085   $                -     $            6,085   $         472,053  
Water Fund  $     1,386,318   $         20,367   $                -     $          20,367   $      1,406,685  
Capital Impr. Fund  $        474,280   $                -     $                -     $                  -     $         474,280  
Fuel System Fund  $            1,200    $           3,000   $            3,000   $             4,200  
Perf. Bond Fund     $                  -     $                   -    
      
Grand Total - All Funds  $     6,563,677   $       101,927   $         69,710   $        171,637   $      6,735,314  



RECORD OF ORDINANCES 
 

Ordinance No. 2019-19 October 28, 2019 
 

2 

Section 3.  This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the earliest 
period provided by law. 

 

PASSED this ____day of ___________________________________, 2019. 

  
Michael W. Schweller, Mayor 

  
Pamela Timmons, Clerk of Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
Stephen M. McHugh, Municipal Attorney 
 



Prepared by M. Dodd 10/11/2019 Page 1 of 1

SUPPLEMENT TO ORDINANCE 2019-19

GENERAL FUND
DEPARTMENT AMOUNT PROJECT
LEGISLATIVE 13,230$                   Clerk wages underbudgeted due to position changes
COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENT (P&Z) 63,475$                   New position not budgeted for 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 76,705$                   

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
STREET FUND 65,480$                   Little Sugarcreek & Franklin St. Engineering Fees
FUEL SYSTEM 3,000$                      Unexpected repairs to fuel system

TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 68,480$                   

ENTERPRISE FUNDS
WASTE 6,085$                      Leave payouts not budgeted for 
WATER 20,367$                   Leave payouts not budgeted for 

TOTAL ENTERPRISE FUNDS 26,452$                   

Total Supplemental
Appropriations

SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION WORKSHEET

171,637$                 





 

Page 1  
 

 

To: Mayor & City Council 

From: Melissa Dodd, City Manager 

Date: October 25, 2019 

Subject: October 28th City Council Meeting  

 

• Budget Work Session – General Fund and Service 
• Ordinances Presented: 

o Public Hearing 
 2019-19 Ordinance Repealing and Replacing 2019-14 and Approving 

Supplemental Appropriations for 2019 This is replacing 2019-14 to increase 
various line items as a result of unforeseen expenditures so far this year.  
that refers to the standards established in 2019-17.  

• Old Business 
o Greene County master trail plan support request – I spoke with Barry Tiffany and the 

township trustees had not yet discussed the plan but he thought that it would be likely 
that they support it. I also asked about Greene County’s share in cost and they stated 
that the County funds both the Parks and Regional Planning departments and are also 
rolling this plan into their larger land use plan which is getting a better deal overall.  

• New Business 
o Highview Terrace Plan Change Request – Staff worked to provide all of the necessary 

materials for Council to consider this request after Planning Board voted to deny the 
request. It should be noted that removal of the path in the request would leave only a 5 
foot easement along Little Sugarcreek that is not as viable of an option for connectivity 
from that neighborhood 

• Updates 
o Franklin Street Bridge Project – The Service Director and I met with staff from LJB to 

review the first stage of design for the bridge project. We are excited about the way that 
this is going to look as you enter the downtown area. Final design will be next year with 
the hopes that if earlier funding becomes available, our project will be ready.  

o Small Business Revolution Show – I received an email outlining the next steps for the 
show. On November 18th the top 10 towns will be announced. I thank you all for taking 
the time to nominate Bellbrook! Fingers crossed from here.  

o Farmers Markets – The market has officially come to an end. We had a very successful 
first year of regular markets. I am already looking forward to next year! I have had a 



 

Page 2  
 

 

community member and market vendor offer to assist me next year. I am gladly accepting 
the assistance! 

o Brook Mills 10k in 2020 – Staff met with the race director and we set the date for next 
year’s race. August 22 will be the date of the next race. Registration will open in January. 
We are going to add more slots next year as this year sold out at 300 runners. Be sure to 
check out the beautiful gift to the City commemorating the first year out in the lobby.  

o Heritage Ohio Conference – On Tuesday and Wednesday of last week Jeff Green and I 
attended the annual Heritage Ohio Conference held in Newark. I attended sessions on 
Special Improvement Districts, public art, economic impact of breweries, community 
design and more. It was the second year I have attended and was so very valuable.  

o Bellbrook Open for Business – The open house style event for empty spaces downtown is 
going to be tabled until the spring. I did not have any response from property owners. I 
plan to do a more personal outreach to try to get the owners to participate and really 
make the event worthwhile. Stay tuned! 

 

 







 

  

Scope of Services – Greene County Master Trails Plan 

Draft: September 4, 2019 

The following project scope of services provides a detailed explanation for the methods, services, 
requirements, and deliverables Toole Design will provide for the completion of the Greene County 
Master Trails Plan (MTP). For additional project background please reference the Greene County 
Master Trails Plan Scope of Work Draft. 

Objective 

As represented in Greene County Master Trails Plan Scope of Work Draft provided by Greene County 
Parks and Trails and the Regional Planning and Coordinating Commission of Greene County (RPCC) 
the MTP is an important part of Vision 2040, a comprehensive planning strategy for Greene County, 
Ohio. The MTP is an essential planning document focusing on active transportation issues such as a 
vision for bike and pedestrian pathways to improve safety, connectivity, and economic vibrancy. The 
MTP should be synergistic with local plans, MVRPC’s regional plans, and the state bikeway plan. It will 
at minimum use the following plan organization: Introduction, Vision and Goals, Existing Conditions, 
Recommendations, and Implementation.  

MTP Oversight 

Greene County Parks and Trails will oversee the entire project. The RPCC and MVRPC will provide 
space for meetings, facilitate the project, provide mapping aid when needed, and provide overall 
guidance to and management of Toole Design. 

The following tasks will be completed to create the Greene County MTP: 

Task 1: MTP Project Management  

Task 1.1: Establish MTP Oversight Committee and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) 

Greene County Parks and Trails along with municipal and township partners will each appoint a person 
and an alternate to the MTP Oversight Committee. The MTP Oversight Committee will listen to public 
feedback; consider advice from the Technical Advisory Committee, and Toole Design to make plan 
recommendations. 

The Technical Advisory Committee will consist of the County Engineer, Greene County Parks and 
Trails, RPCC staff appointee, MVRPC staff appointee, rails to trails representative, ODOT, and ODNR, 
and Toole Design. The purpose of the technical advisory committee is to provide Toole Design with 
information and guidance necessary for the consultant to perform the scope of work, and to review 
potential projects for feasibility and make recommendations to the Oversight Committee. 



  

Greene County Parks and Trails and RPCC will be responsible for coordaining the creation of the 
Oversight Committee and Technical Advisory Committee. RPCC will also schedule meetings and 
secure accommodations when meeting space is needed. Oversight and Technical Advisory Committee 
meetings should be scheduled on the same day if possible. 

Task 1.1 Deliverables 

Oversight Committee Meetings 

 Facilitation of up to three (kickoff, pre-engagement, post-recommendations) meetings including 
providing meeting agendas and notes 

Technical Advisory Committee Meetings 

 Facilitations of up to three (kickoff, pre-engagement, post-recommendations) meetings including 
providing meeting agendas and notes 

Task 1.2: Project Management 

Toole Design will initiate and conduct regularly scheduled coordination and status meetings with RPCC 
and MVRPC, including preparation of all associated meeting materials, follow-up on meeting outcomes, 
and ensuring quality control. Toole Design will prepare and provide meeting schedules, meeting 
agendas, meeting minutes, evaluations of comments and suggestions, and progress reports. At the 
kickoff meeting Toole Design and RPCC will discuss and establish a project schedule, major 
deliverables, and a communication process. 

Toole Design will send monthly progress reports, including updates on project work completed and 
anticipated work. Toole Design will provide project oversight, including monitoring the budget, general 
QAQC, and non-task specific communications with Greene County Parks and Trails and RPCC as 
needed during the project. 

Task 1.2 Deliverables 
 Facilitation of monthly check-in meetings including scheduling meetings, and providing meeting 

agendas and notes 
 Monthly progress reports  

Task 2: Public Outreach 

Task 2.1 – Web Presence 

Toole Design will coordinate with Greene County Parks and Trails and RPCC to utilize its websites to 
provide the public with regular status updates and project information. Greene County Parks and Trails 
and RPCC will be responsible for posting and monitoring content on the County and RPCC websites 
including addressing public questions. 

Content for a brief online survey will be crafted by Toole Design. The survey will focus on gathering 
preliminary input from the public, such as MTP goals and understanding the existing network 
challenges and opportunities. RPCC and/or Greene County Parks and Trails will post and monitor the 
survey as well as advertise the survey to the public. RPCC and/or Greene County Parks and Trails will 



  

provide Toole Design the survey results for analysis. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will 
provide one set of consolidated comments for Toole Design to revise the draft survey analysis and 
summary memorandum and produce the final memorandum. 

Task 2.1 Deliverables 
 Content for one brief online survey with up to 10 questions 
 Draft and final survey analysis and summary memorandum (up to four pages) 
 Up to three project status updates and supporting project information to be posted to the 

website 

Task 2.2 – Public Workshops 

Toole Design will plan and work with Greene County Parks and Trails, RPCC, and the Oversight 
Committee to facilitate one full day workshop. The full day workshop will be informational and 
interactive and focus on goal setting, visioning, and understanding the existing network challenges and 
opportunities. There will be three meetings with three different audiences as part of the full day 
workshop: Technical Advisory Committee, Oversight Committee, and general public. Toole Design will 
also facilitate one workshop to present the draft plan for public review and comment. Subsequent 
workshop(s) may be combined with the RPCC’s Land Use Plan meetings and will be led by the 
Oversight Committee or staff and volunteers. Toole Design will develop a workshop template to guide 
the facilitation of these meetings. Toole Design may utilize mapping skills of MVRPC and RPCC to aid 
with presentation materials. Toole Design will work with staff on developing display boards, handouts, 
questionnaires, sign-in sheets, agendas etc. 

RPCC will schedule, provide meeting accommodations, and advertise all workshops and/or meetings. 
RPCC and/or Greene County Parks and Trails will print all workshop materials, such as display boards, 
handouts, surveys, sign-in sheets, and agendas. 

Task 2.2 Deliverables 

Full Day Workshop 

 Facilitation of workshop including developing materials such as display boards, handouts, 
surveys, sign-in sheets, and agendas 

 Meeting notes and summary of input from community 

Draft Plan Workshop 

 Facilitation of a workshop to present the draft plan including developing materials such as 
display boards, handouts, surveys, sign-in sheets, and agendas 

 Meeting notes and summary of input from community 

Workshop Template 

 Workshop template for meetings led by Oversight Committee or staff and volunteers 

  



  

Task 3: Goals and Objectives and Best Practices 

Task 3.1 – Preparation of Goals and Objectives 

In the kickoff meetings with the Oversight and Technical Advisory Committees, Toole Design will 
discuss desired goals and objectives. Based on these discussions and other relevant local, regional, 
and state plans provided by Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC, Toole Design will draft 
project goals and objectives. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one set of 
consolidated comments for Toole Design to revise the draft goals and objectives memorandum and 
produce the final memorandum. 

Task 3.1 Deliverables 
 Draft and final goals and objectives memorandum (up to two pages) 

Task 3.2 – Active Transportation Best Practices 

Toole Design will review existing active transportation and complete streets plans in Greene County 
and the region and develop an active transportation reference section for the plan. Toole Design will 
also develop a summary of current national best practices for integrating active transportation and 
complete streets plans into trail development, trail upgrades, and connectivity.  

RPCC and/or Greene County Parks and Trails will provide all existing Greene County active 
transportation and complete streets plans to be reviewed and included in the memorandum summary 
by Toole Design. In addition, Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one set of 
consolidated comments for Toole Design to revise the draft memorandum and produce the final 
memorandum. 

Task 3.2 Deliverables 
 Draft and final memorandum (up to six pages) including the following components: 

» summary of existing active transportation and complete streets plans in Greene County  
» current best practices for active transportation and complete streets 

Task 4: Network Recommendations 

Task 4.1 – Existing Conditions Review 

Toole Design with heavy collaboration with MVRPC and RPCC will develop an existing conditions map 
and description of current inventory using all available resources by reference and by description where 
appropriate. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one set of consolidated 
comments for Toole Design to revise the existing conditions map and produce the final map. It is 
assumed there will be no field inventory needed to create the existing conditions map. 

Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide all current and available related data such 
as trails and important community destinations (such as businesses, commercial centers, schools, etc.) 
to create the existing conditions map. 

Task 4.1 Deliverables 
 Draft and final existing conditions map 



  

Task 4.2 – Proposed Trail Network 

Toole Design will coordinate with MVRPC and RPCC to produce a proposed trail network map along 
with descriptions of each proposed project. The recommendations will build upon the groundwork 
already completed by Greene County Parks and Trails and RPCC and will incorporate public input, 
Oversight Committee recommendations, feasibility, and respond to local, regional, and state trail plans. 
Where possible, trails should serve to connect neighborhoods to businesses and commercial centers, 
and to schools. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one set of consolidated 
comments for Toole Design to revise the proposed trail network map and produce the final map. 

Task 4.2 Deliverables 
 Draft and final proposed trail network map 

Task 4.3 – Project Prioritization 

In the second Oversight and Technical Advisory Committee meetings, Toole Design will discuss the 
potential prioritization methodology and determine prioritization factors to rank the entire network. The 
prioritization matrix could include factors such as stakeholder input, safety, existing conditions, 
connectivity, equity, and funding sources. The ability to simultaneously build additional public 
infrastructure such as water and sewer or broadband or other utilities should greatly increase project 
value and prioritization. 

Task 4.3 Deliverables 
 Project prioritization matrix 
 Project list organized by priority 

Task 4.4 – Recommendations to Improve Bicycle and Pedestrian Education 

Toole Design will recommend programs to promote the use of these facilities, and to improve safety, 
such as bicycle safety classes and trail etiquette. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will 
provide one set of consolidated comments for Toole Design to revise the memorandum and produce 
the final memorandum of recommended programs. 

Task 4.4 Deliverables 
 Draft and final memorandum of recommended programs that support and promote active 

transportation (up to two pages) 

Task 4.5 – Recommendations to Achieve Higher Economic Return to the Community 

Trails have proven economic benefits for the host communities. Toole Design will work with the 
Oversight Committee to develop recommendations to maximize the economic benefit of public and 
private investments in the trail network. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one 
set of consolidated comments for Toole Design to revise the memorandum and produce the final 
memorandum. 

Task 4.5 Deliverables 
 Draft and final memorandum explaining the economic benefits of trails and recommendations to 

maximize investment into the network (up to two pages) 



  

Task 5: Implementation Plan  

Task 5.1 – Highest Priority Project(s) Descriptions, Conceptualization and Cost Estimates 

Toole Design will provide typical design sections for a segment of the trail and prepare conceptual 
design rendering(s) for up to two of the highest ranked project(s) accompanied by planning level 
lifecycle cost (construction cost + maintenance cost). These projects should be identified as short-term 
projects. 

Task 5.1 Deliverables 
 Typical design sections for a segment of the trail 
 Conceptual design rendering(s) for up to two of the highest ranked project(s) accompanied by a 

planning level project lifecycle cost (construction cost + maintenance costs) 

Task 5.2 – Identification of Funding Sources 

Toole Design will prepare a funding matrix including funding sources by project and high-level 
information about funding sources, such as application process, due dates, and point of contact. 

Task 5.2 Deliverables 
 Funding sources matrix 

Task 5.3 – Implementation Table 

Toole Design will prepare an implementation table based on all the tasks above. The table will include 
all the projects listed with columns such as priority, possible funding source(s), and implementation 
(e.g. short-term, mid-term, or long-term). 

Task 5.3 Deliverables 
 Implementation table 

Task 6: Maintenance Plan for Prioritized Projects 

Task 6.1 – Develop a Maintenance Plan 

Toole Design will prepare a sustainable maintenance section of the plan based on national best 
practices. This section will guide the maintenance of existing inventories and investments in new trails 
and include elements, such as cost estimates for routine maintenance for trail surfaces, structures, 
mowing, plantings, bridges, underpasses, crosswalks, snow removal and a recommended maintenance 
schedule. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one set of consolidated comments 
for Toole Design to revise the maintenance memorandum and produce the final memorandum. 

Task 6 Deliverables 
 Draft and final sustainable maintenance memorandum (up to twelve pages)  

Task 7: Public Hearing 
Toole Design will present the final report in a public hearing led by the Parks and Trails Board and 
RPCC. RPCC will advertise and invite the public to the hearing.  

  



  

Task 7 Deliverables 
 Attendance and presentation of final report at one public hearing  

Task 8: Draft and Final MTP 
Toole Design will produce one draft plan to be reviewed by Greene County Parks and Trails and 
RPCC. Greene County Parks and Trails and/or RPCC will provide one set of consolidated comments 
for Toole Design to revise the plan and produce the final MTP. The final MTP report will be submitted in 
PDF format to be easily printed and source files will be provided. 

Task 8 Deliverables 
 Draft MTP (PDF format) 
 Final MTP (PDF format) 
 

 



PR
OP

OS
AL

 C
OS

T 
SU

MM
AR

Y

C/
R/

S 
:

Gr
ee

ne
 C

ou
nty

 M
TP

PI
D 

NO
.:

Ov
er

he
ad

 P
er

ce
nta

ge
 =

16
3.3

1%
Av

g. 
Ov

er
he

ad
 P

er
ce

nta
ge

=
15

6.6
8%

(N
et 

Fe
e C

alc
)

CO
NS

UL
TA

NT
:

To
ole

 D
es

ign
 G

ro
up

Ne
t F

ee
 P

er
ce

nta
ge

 =
11

.00
%

DA
TE

:
9/4

/20
19

Co
st 

of 
Mo

ne
y =

0.1
4%

Ho
ur

ly
To

ta
l

La
bo

r
Ov

er
he

ad
Co

st
 o

f
Di

re
ct

Su
bc

on
.

Ne
t

To
ta

l
St

ep
 - 

De
sc

rip
tio

n
Ra

te
Ho

ur
s

Co
st

s
Co

st
s

Mo
ne

y
Co

st
s

Co
st

s
Fe

e
Co

st

1.0
 M

TP
 P

ro
jec

t M
an

ag
em

en
t

$5
1.5

3
38

$1
,95

8
$3

,19
8

$3
$3

00
$0

$5
53

$6
,01

2
2.0

 P
ub

lic
 O

utr
ea

ch
$4

8.8
8

50
$2

,44
4

$3
,99

1
$3

$2
00

$0
$6

90
$7

,32
8

3.0
 G

oa
ls 

an
d O

bje
cti

ve
s a

nd
 B

es
t P

ra
cti

ce
s

$4
2.1

2
34

$1
,43

2
$2

,33
9

$2
$0

$0
$4

04
$4

,17
7

4.0
 N

etw
or

k R
ec

om
me

nd
ati

on
s

$3
9.9

0
82

$3
,27

2
$5

,34
4

$5
$0

$0
$9

24
$9

,54
5

5.0
 Im

ple
me

nta
tio

n P
lan

$3
9.5

8
66

$2
,61

2
$4

,26
6

$4
$0

$0
$7

37
$7

,61
9

6.0
 M

ain
ten

an
ce

 P
lan

 fo
r P

rio
riti

ze
d P

ro
jec

ts
$4

0.4
4

50
$2

,02
2

$3
,30

2
$3

$0
$0

$5
71

$5
,89

8
7.0

 P
ub

lic
 H

ea
rin

g
$4

6.0
0

13
$5

98
$9

77
$1

$1
00

$0
$1

69
$1

,84
5

8.0
 D

ra
ft a

nd
 F

ina
l P

lan
$4

2.2
0

60
$2

,53
2

$4
,13

5
$4

$0
$0

$7
15

$7
,38

6

TO
TA

L
$4

2.9
3

39
3

$1
6,8

70
$2

7,5
52

$2
5

$6
00

$0
$4

,76
3

$4
9,8

10



DE
TA

IL
ED

 B
RE

AK
DO

W
N 

OF
 P

RO
PO

SE
D 

TO
TA

L 
HO

UR
S,

 
PE

RS
ON

NE
L 

CA
TE

GO
RI

ES
, A

ND
 L

AB
OR

 R
AT

ES

C/
R/

S 
:

Gr
ee

ne
 C

ou
nty

 M
TP

HO
UR

LY
 R

AT
ES

Pe
rs

on
ne

l C
at

eg
or

y
Sa

lar
y R

at
e

PI
D 

NO
.:

0
P4

$7
0.0

0
P2

$4
3.0

0
P1

$3
6.0

0
CO

NS
UL

TA
NT

:
To

ole
 D

es
ign

 G
ro

up
E1

$3
5.0

0
Int

er
n

$2
0.0

0
DA

TE
:

9/4
/20

19

HO
UR

S 
BY

 P
ER

SO
NN

EL
 C

AT
EG

OR
Y

To
tal

La
bo

r
P4

P2
P1

E1
Int

er
n

Ho
ur

s
Co

sts

1.0
 M

TP
 P

ro
jec

t M
an

ag
em

en
t

12
26

0
0

0
38

$1
,95

8
2.0

 P
ub

lic
 O

utr
ea

ch
14

24
12

0
0

50
$2

,44
4

3.0
 G

oa
ls 

an
d O

bje
cti

ve
s a

nd
 B

es
t P

ra
cti

ce
s

2
20

12
0

0
34

$1
,43

2
4.0

 N
etw

or
k R

ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s
2

36
44

0
0

82
$3

,27
2

5.0
 Im

ple
me

nta
tio

n P
lan

2
24

40
0

0
66

$2
,61

2
6.0

 M
ain

ten
an

ce
 P

lan
 fo

r P
rio

riti
ze

d P
ro

jec
ts

2
22

26
0

0
50

$2
,02

2
7.0

 P
ub

lic
 H

ea
rin

g
3

4
6

0
0

13
$5

98
8.0

 D
ra

ft a
nd

 F
ina

l P
lan

6
24

30
0

0
60

$2
,53

2

TO
TA

L
43

18
0

17
0

0
0

39
3

$1
6,8

70



DE
TA

IL
ED

 B
RE

AK
DO

W
N 

OF
 D

IR
EC

T 
CO

ST
S

C/
R/

S 
:

Gr
ee

ne
 C

ou
nty

 M
TP

PI
D 

NO
.:

0

CO
NS

UL
TA

NT
:

To
ole

 D
es

ign
 G

ro
up

DA
TE

:
9/4

/20
19

Di
re

ct
Tr

av
el

po
sta

ge
ph

oto
s, 

re
pr

o
mi

sc
.

Co
sts

& 
mo

un
tin

gs

1.0
 M

TP
 P

ro
jec

t M
an

ag
em

en
t

$3
00

$0
$0

$0
$3

00
2.0

 P
ub

lic
 O

utr
ea

ch
$2

00
$0

$0
$0

$2
00

3.0
 G

oa
ls 

an
d O

bje
cti

ve
s a

nd
 B

es
t P

ra
cti

ce
s

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
4.0

 N
etw

or
k R

ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

5.0
 Im

ple
me

nta
tio

n P
lan

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
6.0

 M
ain

ten
an

ce
 P

lan
 fo

r P
rio

riti
ze

d P
ro

jec
ts

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
7.0

 P
ub

lic
 H

ea
rin

g
$1

00
$0

$0
$0

$1
00

8.0
 D

ra
ft a

nd
 F

ina
l P

lan
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

TO
TA

L
$6

00
$0

$0
$0

$6
00



Ta
sk
s

Ta
sk
 1
: M

TP
 P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
em

en
t

Ta
sk
 2
: P

ub
lic
 O
ut
re
ac
h

ki
ck
‐o
ff

in
‐p
ro
gr
es
s

fin
al

Ta
sk
 3
: G

oa
ls
 a
nd

 O
bj
ec
tiv

es
 a
nd

 B
es
t P

ra
ct
ic
es

Ta
sk
 4
: N

et
w
or
k 
Re

co
m
m
en

da
tio

ns
Ta

sk
 5
: I
m
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n 
Pl
an

Ta
sk
 6
: M

ai
nt
en

an
ce
 P
la
n 
fo
r P

rio
rit
iz
ed

 P
ro
je
ct
s

Ta
sk
 7
: P

ub
lic
 H
ea

rin
g

Ta
sk
 8
: D

ra
ft
 a
nd

 F
in
al
 P
la
n

M
O
N
TH

 6
 

G
RE

EN
E 
CO

U
N
TY

 D
RA

FT
 M

TP
 T
IM

EL
IN
E

O
n‐
go

in
g 
pr
oj
ec
t m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 c
he

ck
‐in

 m
ee
tin

gs
on

lin
e 
su
rv
ey

M
O
N
TH

 1
 

M
O
N
TH

 2
M
O
N
TH

 3
 

M
O
N
TH

 4
 

M
O
N
TH

 5
 













Se
co

n
d

 E
as

em
en

t—
2

0
1

7
 —

5
0

 f
o

o
t 

w
id

e 
(r

eq
u

es
te

d
 t

o
 b

e 
re

m
o

ve
d

) 

O
ri

gi
n

al
 E

as
em

en
t—

1
9

75
—

5
 f

o
o

t 
w

id
e 









James and Katherine Cyphers 
 

 

To: Bellbrook City Council  

Subject:  Request to amend/remove pedestrian access on lot 50 of Highview 
Terrace Record Plan  

We are requesting pedestrian access path listed in lot 50 be removed and 
pedestrian access be relocated to an alternate location in deeded easements or 
HOA owned lot. 

The pedestrian access path was added to Record Plan prior to development of the 
lots/houses and without knowing the topography or actual location of existing 
storm, water, sewer drains and flood areas.  Now that our home is built and lot 50 
has been graded, we see the impact of the location and the lack of privacy.  

In Ordinance 2016-5, City Staff listed condition 3 :This pedestrian access is to be 
owned and maintained by the Home Owners Association.  However, the path is not 
owned by the HOA or in public open space, it is in lot 50.  We purchased lot 50. 

City Staff condition 4: The pedestrian access path will be located between lot #51 
and lot#74.  If path needs to be relocated in the future, it will require Council 
Approval. However, the location is not between lot 51 and 74, it is on lot 50.  Lot 
50 is privately owned property.  The pedestrian access was added to an existing 
utility easement instead of placing it on public property (Lot #38 and #55-Reserve 
C and D) or HOA property (lot15A-Reserve D). 

Since 2016, lot #74 has become lot#50.  Lot sizes and topography has changed, 
stormwater and sewer drains have been installed, water lines installed, detention 
pond installed, and flood zone issues are present.  Additionally, our home has been 
built. Resolution 2017-K Record plan lists pedestrian access path in lot 50. This puts 
people walking down a steep hill, over five open storm drains and manhole covers, 
and into floodway area and detention pond along the Little Sugar Creek.   

We are requesting the path be removed entirely from lot 50 for the following 
reasons: 

1.Extremely hazardous terrain, steep elevation and dangerous location. The 
location in Lot 50 contains the stormwater, sewer, and water pipes and is in the 
floodway. During storms, water is naturally directed to run down between lot 50 
and 51 and into the open storm drain as it deposits into multiple water drains, a 
detention basin, and Little Sugarcreek.  The area along the water drains floods as it 
receives water from the neighborhood run-off as well as Little Sugarcreek.   

Pictures are attached reflecting the hill, open drains, detention basin and flooding 
following a storm.  There were people that mentioned no flooding occurs, but they 
do not live on those lots, nor do they have the viewpoint we do. The attached 



photos are just a few of the occasions we have witnessed the flooding and water 
run-off in the area. 

2.  The pedestrian path was placed in an existing easement for sewer, water, and 
stormwater and can have no improvements, grading, or structures for any purpose 
due to the location and depth of the piping. Restrictions have been confirmed by 
both the Bellbrook Service Director and Greene County Sanitary Engineering 
Department.  Greene County Sanitary Engineer has been to our lot 50 location 
three times this summer to excavate the sewer drain and remove stormwater 
debris.  The most recent occurring in September 16, 2019. Attached are pictures 
from the most recent Greene County Sanitary sewer replacement on lot 50 at the 
location of intended path.  The attached maps also indicate the location of the 
utilities. 

3. We have no privacy and have received several trespassers in our back yard, 
porch, and driveway because of the open access no screening from the Dots 
parking lot. After several instances, we started stopping people to tell them they 
cannot come right by our house because we live here now and it is private 
property. My daughters should not have to worry about strangers in the back yard. 
Nor should I see random males 25 feet from my bathroom window.  Repeat 
offenders and even the neighborhood residents do not use the lot 50/51 location 
after being notified of the location on the map.  People did not believe us when we 
said we have random people coming in our yard and near the house, pictures are 
attached of a couple of the instances.  

We also find a lot of trash in the yard. It is coming in from people or commercial 
parking lot.  We find bags, cigarette butts, food and drink trash, and beer cans in 
our yard.  We have picked up about a bag of trash a month since moving into home 
in May. It is not construction trash.  I could not believe I found beer cans in the 
yard, so I took a picture, also attached. 

4.  Future liability issues as a result of the placement of the pedestrian path that 
cannot be ADA compliant. City Staff dictated where the path be placed and is now 
advertising the path to be public use.  According to our insurance company, liability 
resides with the HOA and/or the City because of the easement and the 
Comprehensive Plan advertises a multi-use path. A multi-use path is not typically 
considered available for bikes, skateboards, wheelchairs, etc. None of these things 
should be permitted down the hill, but there will be nothing there that can stop 
them from trying to use it if the easement remains in place on lot 50. 

Accidents are already occurring.  Some in the easement area, some on our private 
property because people are accessing via the open areas.  Within the first weeks 
of living in our home, we had already witnessed one injury from a girl falling off her 
bike and then trying to walk up a hill with one shoe.  She had to walk her bike up 
another hill because it was too steep, just to make it to the roadway.  
 



On another occasion, a young man slipped down the hill when it was wet and 
continued along the flooded area along the retention pond basin.  
We have also witnessed Little Sugar Creek flooding over the bank and into lot 50.  
In July, we noticed four people walking with no shoes and looking into the flooded 
creek.  They had been washed down stream when a flash flood hit following a 
storm. They were pushed down the creek from wading in Magee Park. 
 
August 15th, we saw another accident along lot 50.  A live power line was down. 
DP&L was working to install a new underground line at the rear of lot 50, but until 
that repair could be completed, there was a live power line on the ground across 
the path. 
 
5.  We also have concerns the location of the path in lot 50 contradicts or violates 
Zoning Codes.  We should not be accountable for the violations created by others. 

Zoning Code Article 2: purpose of a Plan is to reduce undue hazards due to 
flooding, and to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare.  It is the 
further purpose of this Ordinance to safeguard the public health, safety, and 
general welfare. 

Zoning Code Article 15 Flood Damage Prevention.  Any area designated for the 
natural flow of surface water shall be at all times kept free and clear from any 
obstruction of such natural flow.  
The 2017 Record plan indicates lot 50, lies in the 100 year Floodplain Floodway 
fringe. This is why lot 50 often floods during inclement weather and has standing 
water for extended periods of time.   
In 2016 Council meetings, the development engineer and City Manager stated no 
pavement can be put along this area in lot 50.  We suspect any materials used for a 
path will obstruct natural flow, or flow directly into the open stormwater drains if 
chips/dust are used. 
 
Zoning Code Article 17.01(5) Purpose of Planned Development: To protect flood 
plains from encroachment by development within the City of Bellbrook. 

17.05 (5) Site Design: All housing shall be sited to preserve privacy and to ensure 
natural light.  We have no privacy when people are coming through our yards and 
are permitted open roaming due to multiple entry points being advertised to the 
public. 

17.05 (9) Setback and Screening. A minimum of fifty (50) feet shall be provided 
along the entire perimeter of the development and retained in natural woods or be 
suitably landscaped with grass and/or ground cover, shrubs, and trees.  Projects 
located adjacent to commercial or industrially zoned areas shall provide suitable 
screening to the residential development.   
 
Our review of the Zoning map reflects Lot 49 and 50 abuts a commercial district, 
parking lot, and off-street loading.  Therefore, a protective buffer and/or screening 
are required according to Code 18.15, 18.16, and 18.17.  Lot 49 and 50 are unique 
in this development because we are directly adjacent to a commercial zoned area.  



We would like to have a screening fence on lot 50 where it adjoins to the 
commercial parking lot so the noise and debris from Dots would be contained 
outside the perimeter. However, we were told by City Staff we could not install a 
fence because anyone can come onto our property and it would violate the 
easement.  As a result, we have limited landscape buffer or screening in lot 50. 
 
We own the only lots that abut to a commercial district, so we suspect this may 
have been overlooked when the plans were submitted/reviewed.  As mentioned, we 
would like to install a screening fence/gate that will provide a visual barrier to 
obstruct the view from the commercial parking lots, will absorb or deflect noise 
from the offloading activities and trash compactor; contain the debris and litter to 
the outside our yard, and keep our pets in our yard.    

We placed a simple chain fence to stop people from trying to drive up the old 
driveway, but we have been told we cannot put much more than a string and a 
stake because of the utility easements and floodway. Meanwhile, we continue to 
hear the noise from the loading trucks, the trash compactor, find trash in our yard, 
and have no privacy from the commercial area. 

6.  It appears as if the City has two deeded walkway easements on open space 
property recorded in 1975 and 1994.  The walkway easements are recorded on 
Development maps and are listed in City Ordinance 2016-5 and Resolution 2017-K 
maps.  Attached are maps and Deeded easements reflecting the walkpaths connect 
SR725 to Magee Park on both sides of the creek.  One goes along Little Sugarcreek 
Rd (VOL889,PG 640) and the other to Magee Park (VOL524,PG278).   

These two easements are on safe flat surface, behind the landscape buffers, 
connect the neighborhoods on Little Sugarcreek Rd and Magee Park.  These two 
paths accomplish the goals in the Comprehensive plan and would be much safer 
options if the paths were being maintained. 

We heard people mention Little Sugarcreek Rd is not safe, but we don’t understand 
why some feel it is unsafe.  We see people walking/running it, have personally 
walked it and it is behind a guard rail.  If speeding cars is a safety issue, perhaps 
traffic cameras can be installed to stop the speeding.  According to the Engineering 
studies conducted as part of the Little Sugarcreek Road Assessment(August 
26,2019) this path is safe because it is behind a guardrail. 

We have attached maps, photos, and deeded easements for review.   

We appreciate the opportunity to address Council and working together to resolve. 

Existing Walkway 
Easement Deed VOL     

Existing Walkway 
and Jogging Easeme     

Council meeting 
maps.pdf

HVT_ utility 
pipes.pdf

HVT Sec 3 PH 
1_Prop'd Vaction of   

 
 
Regards,  



James and Katherine Cyphers 
Cyphersfamily6@gmail.com 
571-232-5214 
 
 



























P
h

o
to

s 
su

b
m

itt
ed

 b
y 

A
p

p
lic

an
t 

 

Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 
3

 



P
h

o
to

s 
su

b
m

itt
ed

 b
y 

A
p

p
lic

an
t 

 

Pa
ge

 2
 o

f 
3

 



P
h

o
to

s 
su

b
m

itt
ed

 b
y 

A
p

p
lic

an
t 

 

Pa
ge

 3
 o

f 
3

 



 

1 

  

 
 

 
BELLBROOK PLANNING BOARD 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 
  August 22, 2019  

 
PRESENT:  Mr. Mitchell Thompson 

Mr. Ed Stangel  
  Mr. Brady Harding 
  Mr. Denny Bennett 
  Chairman Van Veldhuizen 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Van Veldhuizen called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 6:00 PM.  
 
FORMAL APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Chairman Van Veldhuizen requested a motion regarding the prior minutes of July 11, 2019.  Mr. 
Bennett made a motion to approve the prior minutes; Mr. Stangel seconded the motion.  Roll 
was called.  Mr. Bennett, yes; Mr. Stangel, yes; Mr. Thompson, abstain; Mr. Harding, yes; 
Chairman Van Veldhuizen, yes.  The motion carried 4-0; the minutes stand approved. 
 
OLD BUSINESS   
 
NEW BUSINESS 

 Resignation 

Chairman Van Veldhuizen submitted his resignation from the Planning Board.  He announced 
that he had been appointed to City Council.  The members of the Board congratulated him and 
thanked him for his service to the Planning Board. 

 Amendment to Section 3 Phase 1 of approved Highview Terrace Development Plan 

Jeff Green, Planning and Zoning Administrative Assistant, explained that this request was made 
by James and Katherine Cyphers. The Cyphers propose that the walking path easement 
between Lots 50 and 51 be removed from the Highview Terrace Development plan.  The plan 
calls for the developer to build the path with the liability and maintenance being the 
responsibility of the HOA. When the plan was approved by City Council in 2016 it included the 
condition that any changes to the plan would also need to be approved by Council.  The 
purpose for the Planning Board is to decide how to proceed with the request.  If the Board 
deems it appropriate, the request will be heard by the Council. The Cyphers own Lots 49 and 50 
which abut Dot’s Market and downtown.  The Comprehensive Plan identifies links to create a 
walkable community of which this path is one.  Mr. Green included the approved plan, pictures, 
and emails from interested residents. 



 

2 

 

The Board asked for the Cyphers to speak about their request.  

James Cyphers, is the property owner requesting this change.  He owns the property along 
which the walking path will follow. Mr. Cyphers advised that the topography cannot be 
changed.  He invited the board to walk the proposed path.  A service worker was looking for a 
water access which was under about 2 foot of silt because the terrain is steep.  He opined that 
it is fine for the city to say they want a path but doesn’t have any cost or liability for it.  He 
agreed with access to downtown being appropriate. They haven’t stopped any of their 
neighbors from cutting through their yard, but they have had others including groups of boys 
who have come up close to the house.  They are willing to let their neighbors pass through but 
don’t want anyone else to. They opined that even if the path was built people would still cut 
through their yard because it is less steep.   

Mr. Bennett asked if Mr. Cyphers had an alternative.  Mr. Cyphers doesn’t have one but would 
prefer one along Little Sugarcreek street to Magee Park.  He claims the City is forcing this on the 
neighborhood.  The land has been changed over time from the original development plan.  Mr. 
Bennett agreed that the City wants a safe way for people to access town. 

Council has required that the path be chip sealed or paved in some way. 

Mr. Harding asked about the percent of the grade.  Mr. Cyphers did not know, but asked the 
Board to walk the property.  Mr. Harding asked which was the Cyphers’ biggest concern: the 
slope or being paved.  Mr. Cyphers said it was both. 

Mr. Cyphers reported that their lawyer advised them to put up the “No trespassing” signs.     

Ryan Kramer, 1911 Sugar Maple Place, said they bought their property in 2018.  They 
understand that part of the planned path is in a 100-year flood plain but they have never seen it 
actually flood.  He believes that a lot of the silt and runoff is due to the construction going on.  
The developer, Mr. Clemens sold them on the idea of connectivity with the rest of town.  All the 
property owners were made aware of the planned walking easement.  He agrees that everyone 
wants it to be safe.  The grade and pavement will have to be maintained.  He recounted that 
the owners of lots 51 and 52 are also in favor of the walkway.  The opening at Dot’s Market 
creates a natural path anyway.     

Bill Dahling, 1839 Sugar Maple Place, has watched the development since it started.  The city 
wanted access through the development on Upper Bellbrook Road to Little Sugarcreek Road.  
The owners wanted to keep the gravel driveway that used to extend from the old farmhouse.  It 
was determined that the driveway was too steep for emergency vehicles.  The new location of 
the path is even steeper.  Gravel is treacherous when it is wet or frozen.  He added that he no 
longer walks to work.  He wants the path to go along the creek.  Mr. Dahling asked if the 
easement was private property or who owns it?  Mr. Green explained that the easement is 
owned by the property owner but is useable by utilities and the public.   

Mr. Bennett compared people using a path through a neighborhood to the public using a 
sidewalk in his front yard.  He might not like dogs peeing on his lawn, but that is part of living in 
a community.  



 

3 

 

Alana Harman, 1885 Sugar Maple Place, echoed the idea that everyone needs and wants a good 
walking path.  Currently people are using it so building an actual path doesn’t get rid of the 
liability.  She added that walking along Little Sugarcreek Road is not safe.  

James Cyphers replied that there is no way to fix the grading because of the utilities along the 
path.  The Board asked if an engineer has looked at this. 

Sean Antosh, 1911 Sugar Maple Place, asked about making the path ADA compliant or adding 
stairs.  Mr. Antosh explained that his property has a steep grade also and understands the 
difficulty, but it can be done.  He opined that he is not in agreement with the idea that only 
Highview Terrace people can use it.  He believes that it is a community and would not want 
Highview Terrace to be a gated community.   

Brian Wentrell, Lots 53 and 54, explained that they own a lot and they are also proxy for their 
in-laws who own Lot 53.  They want to express their desire to have access and a path is better 
than just a cut through.  They do not want this path removed from the plan. 

Michelle Cutting, 1877 Sugar Maple Place, reiterated what Brian said about being in favor of a 
path.  She stated that there was always an understanding that there would be community 
access.   

James Cyphers, also pointed out that he and his wife have had to pick up a lot of garbage from 
the ground.  A lot of people go through their yard.  They feel the neighbors should help.  He 
also added that they are paying taxes on 50’ of easement and have the liability.  He explained 
that their attorney advised them to put their concerns on record.   

Katherine Cyphers, wanted to add that the path is in the flood zone which limits what they can 
do.  She explained that they are mostly concerned with people in their yard by their house.   

Mr. Green reported that Mr. Clemens and his engineer never said the path had to be ADA 
compliant.  Walking paths are not the same as public sidewalks.   

Mr. Thompson closed the discussion. 

Mr. Green reiterated the city staff’s recommendation that this proposal be denied.  The original 
intent of the development plans included a path connecting neighborhoods with the 
downtown.  The path does not have to be complete until the entire development is finished 
which will be a while. 

Mr. Stangel asked if the board could meet with Mr. Clemens and look at proposals and safety 
concerns.  Mr. Bennett asked if the City’s Service Director Ryan Pasley could look at the 
proposed site.  Mr. Harding added that he would like to hear from the civil engineer who was 
hired by Mr. Clemens to design the development.  Is the path as it is proposed now within the 
industry design standards?  Does it meet all applicable codes?  What are the engineer’s 
recommendation on a sub base and pavement details?  He is looking for more than just the 
developer’s idea.  Mr. Green answered that there are no stipulations to how Mr. Clemens goes 
about building this path. 



 

4 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if it would be possible for the Board to go out to the location with a city 
engineer and the Service Director.  Mr. Green replied that he will ask the City Manager about it 
plus the city does not have an engineer on staff.   

Mr. Bennett made a motion to table the amendment request to Section 3 Phase 1 of Highview 
Terrace until the Board can view the location.  This was seconded by Mr. Harding.  The Clerk 
called the roll.  Mr. Bennett, yes; Mr. Harding, yes; Mr. Stangel, yes; Mr. Thompson, yes. This 
item was tabled 4-0. 

 Amendment to Article 18 in regard to demolition standards 

Mr. Green explained that this request is to add section 18.41 to the city’s zoning code.  There 
have been cases where demolition of a structure was started but due to a contractor leaving, or 
lack of funds it was not completed leaving the property in an unusable state.  These standards 
would hold the property owner responsible for completing demolition to a point where the 
property is a clean park-like setting ready for future development.  This new code requires a 
bond to ensure that the work is done to the correct standards.  The County has demolition 
standards that are mainly concerned with the type of demolition needed such as asbestos 
remediation or hazardous waste cleanup.  The city’s code is mainly focused on bringing the 
piece of land to a clear empty space. 

Mr. Harding asked about what constitutes a structure that requires a bond.  Mr. Green 
answered that there are exemptions for sheds and accessory structures.  

The Board members suggested adding a specific square foot requirements to define the size of 
accessory structures as less than 250 square feet. 

Mr. Cyphers, agreed that these standards are a good idea.  The property they purchased had 
some issues from the demolition of the original structure.  

Mr. Bennet made a motion to recommend to Council the addition to Article 18.41 of demolition 
standards with the addition of a definition of a storage shed not to exceed 250-square-foot.  
The motion was seconded by Mr. Harding.  The Clerk called the roll.  Mr. Bennett, yes; Mr. 
Harding, yes; Mr. Stangel, yes; Mr. Thompson, yes.  The motion passed 4-0.  

 

OPEN DISCUSSION 

Mr. Green gave an update on 2088 Dane Lane.  The case was turned over to the prosecutor 
who contacted Mr. Green that they were moving forward with the charges.  An arraignment 
date should be scheduled soon.  The $1,000 fine has not been paid.  They have paid the charges 
for the city to mow the grass.   

ADJOURNMENT 

Mr. Stangel moved to adjourn the meeting at 7:20 PM and was seconded by Mr. Bennett.   
 
 

Mitchell Thompson, Acting Chairman     Date 
 







1 

  
 
 

 
BELLBROOK PLANNING BOARD 

PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 
  September 19, 2019  

 
PRESENT:  Mr. Ed Stangel  
  Mr. Denny Bennett 
  Acting Chairman Mitchell Thompson 
 
Jeff Green Planning and Zoning Administrative Assistant was also in attendance. 
 
Members and the public met in Dot’s Market parking lot at 6:00 PM and walked the land for the 
proposed walking path through Highview Terrace. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Thompson called the meeting of the Planning Board to order at 6:45 PM.  The Clerk 
called the roll.  Mr. Stangel, yes; Mr. Bennett, yes; Chairman Thompson, yes. 
 
FORMAL APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Chairman Thompson asked if there were any corrections or additions to the minutes of August 
22, 2019.  Being no changes, the minutes are approved as written. 
 
OLD BUSINESS   
 
NEW BUSINESS 

• Proposed Use 41 W. Franklin St 

Planning and Zoning Administrative Assistant Jeff Green presented the zoning permit for a new 
business looking to move into a property in Bellbrook.  Present was the business owner 
Amanda Haydon of Luminary Microblading and Tattoo Design.  The property is at 41 W Franklin 
Street.  The Village Review Board has already approved this permit. 

Mr. Bennett opined that the Planning Board is pro-business.  He made a motion to approve the 
proposed use of 41 W. Franklin Street.  Mr. Stangel seconded the motion.  The Clerk called the 
roll.  Mr. Bennett, yes; Mr. Stangel, yes; Mr. Thompson, yes.  The motion passed 3-0. 

 

• Amendment to Section 3 Phase 1 of approved Highview Terrace Development Plan 

Mr. Green explained that this is a continuation of the discussion from the last Planning Board 
meeting.  He explained that the Planning Board and interested citizens walked the land for the 
walking path.  Mr. Clemens is allowing the property owners, James and Katherine Cyphers, to 



2 
 

bring this request to the board.  The Planning Board’s responsibility in this case is to make their 
recommendation to City Council.  Council is where any legal decision is made.   

Mr. Bennett recounted that Bellbrook citizens came out to City Council meetings when 
Highview Terrace and the Vineyards were proposed, and they were furious about these 
neighborhoods being built this close to town.  He opined that the City cannot please everyone, 
and someone will end up being disappointed. 

Mark Raslich, 1904 Sugar Maple Place, stated that he uses the pathway several times a week.  
Since the old driveway was removed, he has cut through to Catalpa Way.  It has been 
inconvenient to go around. 

James Cyphers said that he has new information pertinent to the request to remove the path.  
He relayed that the board has asked him for an alternative to the path, but he opined that it is 
not his responsibility but that of an engineer.  Mr. Cyphers asked why another easement that 
runs along the creek has been in existence since 1970.  The Cyphers spoke with a worker from 
Greene County Sanitation who was on the property with an excavator to relocate a pipe 3 feet 
higher due to the amount of silt that has accumulated.  Mr. Cyphers recounted that he asked 
the director of Greene County Sanitation contact the City of Bellbrook. He also asked about the 
plan that the City approved for Little Sugarcreek Road that includes a sidewalk.  Mr. Green 
stated that he had not gotten a call from Greene County Sanitation yet.  As for the Little 
Sugarcreek Road project, Mr. Green explained that the plan is many years in the future. 

Dave Elliot, 3662 River Birch Court, explained that when they were looking to buy a house 
access was an important consideration.  He added that he is older but has no problem 
traversing the hill the path will be on.  

The Board asked about the kind of material to be used to create the path.  Mr. Green explained 
that the Council had required only that it needs to be chip sealed.  The Board also reiterated 
that the Comprehensive Plan is a critical part of any discussion concerning walkability. 

After the public was allowed an opportunity to speak Mr. Thompson closed the public hearing.  
Mr. Bennett made a motion to deny the request to amend Section 3 Phase 1 of the approved 
Highview Terrace Development Plan.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Stangel.  The Clerk 
called the roll.  Mr. Bennett, yes; Mr. Stangel, yes; Mr. Thompson, yes.  The motion was denied 
3-0. 

 

• Prioritize Code Updates 

Mr. Green outlined suggestions for Codes to be reviewed and possibly updated.  He asked the 
Board to choose the order to proceed. 

The Board chose the following topics to begin: 

o Accessory Structure/Uses 
o Lot Consolidation 
o Triggers for subdivision regulations 
o Repeat Offenders (fines/punishments) 



3 
 

o Fee Analysis 
o Sign Code 

 

OPEN DISCUSSION 

Katherine Cyphers asked which takes precedence when making decisions, the Comprehensive 
Plan or the Zoning Code.  Mr. Green explained that the Zoning Code is the law.  The 
Comprehensive Plan is a goal for the City. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mr. Stangel moved to adjourn the meeting at 7:40 PM and was seconded by Mr. Bennett.   
 
 
 
Mitchell Thompson, Acting Chairman     Date 
 
     
Pamela Timmons, Secretary       Date 









From: Jeff Green
To: Melissa Dodd
Subject: FW: Highview Terrace Walkway/Utility Easement Question
Date: Monday, October 21, 2019 10:41:47 AM

 

From: Gilbert, Randy [mailto:rgilbert@co.greene.oh.us] 
Sent: Monday, September 30, 2019 11:20 AM
To: Jeff Green
Cc: Tincu, Jason; SED_PM
Subject: RE: Highview Terrace Walkway/Utility Easement Question
 
Jeff
We would have no objections to a hard surface being applied to the walking path.   It would be no
different for us than any street or parking lot over one of our easements. 
 
As discussed we would only be concerned if you wanted to install structures, such as stairs and
retaining walls for terraces.
 
 
Randy J. Gilbert, P.E., MPA
Assistant Director / Sanitary Engineer
Greene County Sanitary Engineering Department
667 Dayton Xenia Rd.
Xenia, Ohio 45385
937-562-7499
rgilbert@co.greene.oh.us
 

From: Jeff Green <J.Green@cityofbellbrook.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 24, 2019 11:07 AM
To: Gilbert, Randy <rgilbert@co.greene.oh.us>
Subject: Highview Terrace Walkway/Utility Easement Question
 
Good Morning,
 
I hope your vacation/time off is going well. As per our discussion last week, Mr. James Cyphers
(owner of lot 50) of Highview Terrace allegedly talked to you (or some folks in your office) regarding
an easement that has a dual walking path/utilities easement associated with  it (I have attached the
approved plan for your reference). The plan is for a walking path to be constructed in the easement
in the existing easement. I have also attached the request by Mr. Cyphers for a visual of the portion
of easement that is being referred to.  The path would have a hard surface such as chip-seal or
asphalt. No structures are planned to be placed on the easement.
 
What I am requesting is a written (email is fine) statement advising as to whether or not a chip-seal
or asphalt path can be placed on the easement. No steps or structures will be put in. If possible,

could you send it my way no later than Tuesday October 8th? Please let me know if you would have
any questions regarding this request or need further background information. I’m always up for
lunch!





RECORD OF ORDINANCES 
 

Ordinance No. 2016-5 May 9, 2016 
 

  1  

City of Bellbrook 

Ordinance No. 2016-5 

An Ordinance Approving a Major Change to the Preliminary Plan for the Highview 
Terrace Subdivision. 

WHEREAS, the original preliminary plan for the Highview Terrace subdivision was approved by 
City Council on October 10, 2005; and 

WHEREAS, a revised preliminary plan for the Highview Terrace subdivision was approved by City 
Council on May 8, 2006; and 

WHEREAS, a major change to the preliminary plan for the Highview Terrace subdivision has been 
recommended by the Bellbrook Planning Board following their April 12, 2016 public hearing; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed major change would: 

• Incorporate Section One into the preliminary plan 
• Reduce the number of buildable lots from 77 to 72 
• Remove River Birch Court and reconfigure the lots in the removed roadway area 
• Reduce the length of Sugar Maple Place to create two estate lots 
• Add a roadway bulb in front of Lot #48 on Willowbrook Drive 
• Move a detention basin from Lot #52 to proposed lots #73 and #74 
• Regrade an existing pond for use as a retention pond on proposed Lot #73 
• Allow the lot width to depth ratio for Lots #73 and #74 to be less than the requirements of 

the Subdivision Regulations 
• Allow the perimeter setback along Lots #63 and #64 to be 25 feet rather than 50 feet; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Board voted unanimously to recommend approval of the major change 
request to City Council with three conditions. 

Now, Therefore, the City of Bellbrook Hereby Ordains: 

Section 1.  That the major change to the preliminary plan for the Highview Terrace subdivision, 
as amended on the attached map, is hereby approved with the following three conditions: 

1. To evaluate a reconfiguration of Lots #73 & #74 to support an emergency access easement; 
2. To evaluate options for the cul-de-sac at Willowbrook Drive to allow for EMS 

ingress/egress only; and 
3. That all engineering conditions shall meet the approval of IBI Group. 



RECORD OF ORDINANCES 
 

Ordinance No. 2016-5 May 9, 2016 
 

  2  

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the earliest period 
provided by law. 

PASSED this ____day of ___________________________________, 2016. 

  
Robert L. Baird, Mayor 

  
Jami L. Kinion, Clerk of Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
Patricia N. Campbell, Municipal Attorney 







RECORD OF RESOLUTIONS 
 

Resolution No. 2017-K February 13, 2017 
 

1 

City of Bellbrook 
Resolution No. 2017-K 

A Resolution Approving the Recording of the Highview Terrace Subdivision, 
Section Three, Phase One. 

WHEREAS, the City of Bellbrook Planning Board, after a comprehensive review, granted approval 
on February 8, 2017 for the final construction plans and the record plan for Section Three, Phase One of the 
Highview Terrace Subdivision; and 

WHEREAS, the City reviewed the record plan, bonds, letters of credit and subdivider’s agreement 
for the project; and  

WHEREAS, said bonds or letters of credit shall be held by the City until all public improvements 
are installed by the developer and accepted by the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Bellbrook Subdivision Regulations stipulate that the signing of the record 
plan must be approved by City Council. 

Now, Therefore, the City of Bellbrook Hereby Resolves: 

Section 1. That Section Three, Phase One of the Highview Terrace Subdivision as shown on 
the final record plan is hereby approved for recording purposes. 

Section 2. That the Mayor and Clerk of Council are authorized to affix their signatures to the 
record plans. 

Section 3. That the City Manager/Finance Director is hereby authorized to accept the bonds or 
letters of credit and inspection fees and to sign the City subdivider’s agreement with the developer. 

Section 4. That the developer shall file a copy of the record plan for recording in the office of 
the County Recorder following the date of final approval by the Planning Board and furnish the City with 
one print of the final recorded plat. 

Section 5. That the approval of said plat for recording purposes does not constitute the final 
acceptance of the proposed streets shown thereon as public streets or the acceptance of the dedication of any 
other public lands. 

Section 6. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force forthwith. 

  
Robert L. Baird, Mayor 

  
Jami L. Kinion, Clerk of Council 












	2019-10-28 Agenda
	2019-10-14 Council Minutes
	Mr. Edwards read Ordinance 2019-19 An Ordinance Repealing Ordinance 2019-14 and Adopting new Ordinance 2019-19 to Adjust the City of Bellbrook Appropriations for 2019.  He explained that this is just revising the starting and ending amounts that were ...
	City Manager Melissa Dodd explained that this was due to a clerical error.  The revisions themselves stayed the same.

	2019 Beautification Award Winners List
	Ordinance repealing 2019-14 and adopting 2019-19
	SUPPLEMENTAL APRROP WORKSHEET 2019-19
	Sheet1

	2019-10-28 CM Update
	 Budget Work Session – General Fund and Service
	 Ordinances Presented:
	o Public Hearing
	 2019-19 Ordinance Repealing and Replacing 2019-14 and Approving Supplemental Appropriations for 2019 This is replacing 2019-14 to increase various line items as a result of unforeseen expenditures so far this year.
	that refers to the standards established in 2019-17.
	 Old Business
	o Greene County master trail plan support request – I spoke with Barry Tiffany and the township trustees had not yet discussed the plan but he thought that it would be likely that they support it. I also asked about Greene County’s share in cost and t...
	 New Business
	o Highview Terrace Plan Change Request – Staff worked to provide all of the necessary materials for Council to consider this request after Planning Board voted to deny the request. It should be noted that removal of the path in the request would leave...
	 Updates
	o Franklin Street Bridge Project – The Service Director and I met with staff from LJB to review the first stage of design for the bridge project. We are excited about the way that this is going to look as you enter the downtown area. Final design will...
	o Small Business Revolution Show – I received an email outlining the next steps for the show. On November 18th the top 10 towns will be announced. I thank you all for taking the time to nominate Bellbrook! Fingers crossed from here.
	o Farmers Markets – The market has officially come to an end. We had a very successful first year of regular markets. I am already looking forward to next year! I have had a community member and market vendor offer to assist me next year. I am gladly ...
	o Brook Mills 10k in 2020 – Staff met with the race director and we set the date for next year’s race. August 22 will be the date of the next race. Registration will open in January. We are going to add more slots next year as this year sold out at 30...
	o Heritage Ohio Conference – On Tuesday and Wednesday of last week Jeff Green and I attended the annual Heritage Ohio Conference held in Newark. I attended sessions on Special Improvement Districts, public art, economic impact of breweries, community ...
	o Bellbrook Open for Business – The open house style event for empty spaces downtown is going to be tabled until the spring. I did not have any response from property owners. I plan to do a more personal outreach to try to get the owners to participat...

	Countywide Trails Master Plan
	Scope of Services_Greene County MTP_09042019
	SOW_Greene County MT Plan_09042019_DRAFT
	Scope of Services – Greene County Master Trails Plan
	Scope of Services – Greene County Master Trails Plan
	Draft: September 4, 2019
	Draft: September 4, 2019
	Objective
	Objective
	MTP Oversight
	MTP Oversight
	Task 1: MTP Project Management
	Task 1: MTP Project Management
	Task 1.1: Establish MTP Oversight Committee and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)
	Task 1.1: Establish MTP Oversight Committee and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC)
	Task 1.1 Deliverables
	Task 1.1 Deliverables
	Oversight Committee Meetings
	Oversight Committee Meetings
	Technical Advisory Committee Meetings
	Technical Advisory Committee Meetings
	Task 1.2: Project Management
	Task 1.2: Project Management

	Task 1.2 Deliverables
	Task 1.2 Deliverables

	Task 2: Public Outreach
	Task 2: Public Outreach
	Task 2.1 – Web Presence
	Task 2.1 – Web Presence
	Task 2.1 Deliverables
	Task 2.1 Deliverables
	Task 2.2 – Public Workshops
	Task 2.2 – Public Workshops

	Task 2.2 Deliverables
	Task 2.2 Deliverables
	Full Day Workshop
	Full Day Workshop
	Draft Plan Workshop
	Draft Plan Workshop
	Workshop Template
	Workshop Template


	Task 3: Goals and Objectives and Best Practices
	Task 3: Goals and Objectives and Best Practices
	Task 3.1 – Preparation of Goals and Objectives
	Task 3.1 – Preparation of Goals and Objectives
	Task 3.1 Deliverables
	Task 3.1 Deliverables
	Task 3.2 – Active Transportation Best Practices
	Task 3.2 – Active Transportation Best Practices

	Task 3.2 Deliverables
	Task 3.2 Deliverables

	Task 4: Network Recommendations
	Task 4: Network Recommendations
	Task 4.1 – Existing Conditions Review
	Task 4.1 – Existing Conditions Review
	Task 4.1 Deliverables
	Task 4.1 Deliverables
	Task 4.2 – Proposed Trail Network
	Task 4.2 – Proposed Trail Network
	Task 4.2 – Proposed Trail Network

	Task 4.2 Deliverables
	Task 4.2 Deliverables
	Task 4.3 – Project Prioritization
	Task 4.3 – Project Prioritization

	Task 4.3 Deliverables
	Task 4.3 Deliverables
	Task 4.4 – Recommendations to Improve Bicycle and Pedestrian Education
	Task 4.4 – Recommendations to Improve Bicycle and Pedestrian Education

	Task 4.4 Deliverables
	Task 4.4 Deliverables
	Task 4.5 – Recommendations to Achieve Higher Economic Return to the Community
	Task 4.5 – Recommendations to Achieve Higher Economic Return to the Community

	Task 4.5 Deliverables
	Task 4.5 Deliverables

	Task 5: Implementation Plan
	Task 5: Implementation Plan
	Task 5: Implementation Plan
	Task 5.1 – Highest Priority Project(s) Descriptions, Conceptualization and Cost Estimates
	Task 5.1 – Highest Priority Project(s) Descriptions, Conceptualization and Cost Estimates
	Task 5.1 Deliverables
	Task 5.1 Deliverables
	Task 5.2 – Identification of Funding Sources
	Task 5.2 – Identification of Funding Sources

	Task 5.2 Deliverables
	Task 5.2 Deliverables
	Task 5.3 – Implementation Table
	Task 5.3 – Implementation Table

	Task 5.3 Deliverables
	Task 5.3 Deliverables

	Task 6: Maintenance Plan for Prioritized Projects
	Task 6: Maintenance Plan for Prioritized Projects
	Task 6.1 – Develop a Maintenance Plan
	Task 6.1 – Develop a Maintenance Plan
	Task 6 Deliverables
	Task 6 Deliverables

	Task 7: Public Hearing
	Task 7: Public Hearing
	Task 7 Deliverables
	Task 7 Deliverables

	Task 8: Draft and Final MTP
	Task 8: Draft and Final MTP
	Task 8 Deliverables
	Task 8 Deliverables



	Greene County MTP_Fee_DRAFT_pg1
	Greene County MTP_Fee_DRAFT_pg2
	Greene County MTP_Fee_DRAFT_pg3
	Greene County_MTP_Timeline_DRAFT

	Highview Terrace Request Packet 10-28-19
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



